FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
10/7/2021 4:43 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/8/2021 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 100181-9 Court of Appeals No. 81814-7-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOHN DOE 1, JOHN DOE 2, JOHN DOE 3, JOHN DOE 4,

Petitioners,

v.

KING COUNTY and

THE SEATTLE TIMES,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

McNAUL EBEL NAWROT & HELGREN PLLC
Theresa DeMonte,
WSBA No. 43994
Curtis Isacke, WSBA No. 49303
600 University St, Ste. 2700
Seattle, WA 98101-3143
(206) 467-1816

CEDAR LAW PLLC Lara Hruska, WSBA No. 46531 Whitney Hill, WSBA No. 53715 1001 4th Avenue, Suite 4400 Seattle, Washington 98154 (206) 607-8277

I. INTRODUCTION

By enacting chapter 13.50 RCW, the Legislature determined, as this Court has affirmed, that "[a]ll records related to a juvenile . . . must be kept confidential" and are exempt from disclosure under the Public Records Act unless an exception applies. *State v. A.G.S.*, 182 Wn.2d 273, 280, 340 P.3d 830 (2014). Such exempt records unquestionably include records of criminal investigations of juveniles, yet the Court of Appeals in this case untenably held that such records may be disclosed when they are copied and placed in a file associated with an 18-year-old co-suspect.

In this case, a lengthy investigation into an alleged sexual assault involving three juvenile suspects and one 18-year-old suspect resulted in a decision by career prosecutors that no charges should be brought. When the Seattle Times requested records relating to the incident, the prosecutor's office determined the investigation file was wholly exempt from disclosure, at least when filed under the juveniles' names. But

it determined the *very same records*, as filed under the adult's name, should be disclosed. The juveniles named in the records filed this action, seeking a preliminary injunction to enjoin disclosure, which the trial court denied.

The Court of Appeals affirmed in an opinion that is inconsistent with precedent and subverts the Legislature's intent, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4). The opinion held that because the juveniles' investigation records were duplicated in an adult's file, these purported "adult records" in the 18-year-old's file could be disclosed.

But decisions from this Court and the Court of Appeals have concluded that where a *type* of record is exempt, it is the nature or function of the record in question—not its location—that matters. This Court has also held that exemptions should not be construed so narrowly as to frustrate the Legislature's intent, as occurred here where juveniles lost confidentiality in their own investigation records based on the technicality that

the records were copied and also placed in a file labeled with the 18-year-old's name.

Further compounding its errors, the Court of Appeals' conclusion that redacting the juveniles' names sufficiently protects their juvenile confidentiality interests is inconsistent with this Court's precedent that redaction is appropriate only when it "can transform the record into one that is not exempted." *Resident Action Council v. Seattle Housing Auth.*, 177 W.2d 417, 437, 327 P.3d 600 (2013) ("*RAC*"). Where entire records (as opposed to types of information) are exempt, redaction generally is inappropriate. *Id*.

If allowed to stand, the Court of Appeals' ruling would permit the happenstance of an adult's presence at an incident under investigation to divest juvenile suspects of the confidentiality the Legislature intended to confer when their records are copied to an adult file. Such disclosure imperils juveniles' future employment, housing, and education

opportunities—the very reasons the Legislature mandated confidentiality—presenting issues of substantial public interest.

Also of substantial public interest is the opinion's conclusion that RCW 42.56.240(1) does not require redacting descriptions of the private conduct of juveniles relating to unsubstantiated allegations. Finally, the conclusion that it was appropriate to deny all relief including a preliminary injunction on this record is error, inconsistent with Washington precedent, and presents issues of substantial public interest which should be reviewed by this Court.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Juvenile John Does 1–4, plaintiffs in the trial court and appellants/cross-respondents in the Court of Appeals, are petitioners here.

III. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals' September 7, 2021, unpublished opinion is attached to this petition at App. 1–15.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Records of investigations into juvenile suspects can be disclosed only in accordance with chapter 13.50 RCW. The Court of Appeals' opinion, concluding that *identical* records of an investigation into three juvenile suspects and one 18-year-old suspect fall outside chapter 13.50 RCW once they are placed in a file captioned with the adult's name, subverts the Legislature's intent and is inconsistent with this Court's and the Court of Appeals' precedents. Should review be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (4)?
- 2. This Court has held that redaction is warranted only where it can transform a record into one that is no longer exempt. Yet the Court of Appeals held that redacting the juvenile suspects' names from the 18-year-old's file adequately protected their right to confidentiality, even though chapter 13.50 RCW maintains confidentiality of juvenile records in their entirety. Given that these purported "adult" records are identical to those relating to the investigation of juvenile

plaintiffs and present in files under the juveniles' names, is redacting only the names of juveniles insufficient, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4)?

3. Did the Court of Appeals err by affirming the denial of all relief, including a preliminary injunction, where the plaintiffs showed they would likely prevail; where they sought, at a minimum, redactions to descriptions of private conduct the disclosure of which would be highly offensive and additionally sought a declaratory judgment; where the injunction standard at RCW 42.56.540 need not apply; and where the plaintiffs met that standard regardless, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4)?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Clyde Hill Police Department Investigates an Incident Involving Juvenile John Does and One 18-Year-Old Suspect

This case arises out of allegations by 16-year-old Jane
Doe that she had been sexually assaulted in April 2018 by
juvenile John Does 2–4 and 18-year-old John Doe 5. Clerk's

Papers (CP) 86, 87, 89, 191, 288, 372. John Doe 1, also a juvenile, was identified as a witness. CP 49; *see* CP 86. The Clyde Hill Police Department conducted an eight-month-long investigation into the incident, creating a single investigative file. CP 48, 138, 202, 2723–4901; Report of Proceedings (RP) 15, 17.

B. Clyde Hill Transmits Its File to KCPAO, Which Determines No Charges Should Be Filed

When it concluded its investigation, Clyde Hill transmitted its investigative file to the King County Prosecuting Attorney's Office ("KCPAO"), submitting copies to both the criminal division and juvenile division. CP 202. After reviewing all the evidence, KCPAO informed Jane Doe and the John Does that no criminal charges would be filed. CP 49, 203.

C. KCPAO Provides Notice to the Juvenile Does of the Times' Public Records Request

Days after informing the parties no charges would be brought, KCPAO produced redacted records relating to the investigation to KING 5 News. *See* CP 203–04. The juveniles'

attorneys complained the records should have been kept confidential under chapter 13.50 RCW, and KCPAO agreed to provide interested parties with advance notice if a new public records request were submitted. CP 203–04. King County provided just such notice in early 2020 following the request of Geoff Baker, a Seattle Times reporter, seeking records "pertaining to the decision not to bring forth criminal charges" and listing the names of the involved juveniles. CP 93, 121, 205.

D. John Does 1–4 Obtain a TRO Preventing Disclosure of the Copy of Their Juvenile Investigative Records Placed in an Adult File

After receiving this notice, Does 1–4 promptly filed a complaint against King County and Clyde Hill PD, seeking a declaratory judgment that the records are exempt and an injunction restraining disclosure.¹ CP 5–8. The same day, the

¹ When the action was filed, John Doe 2 was a minor, and his parents brought the case on his behalf. *See* CP 5. He has since reached the age of majority and was substituted in for his parents by order of the Supreme Court under RAP 3.2.

Does obtained a TRO barring production of the records. CP 9–12.

At the TRO hearing, the prosecuting attorney acknowledged that "if all the suspects had been juveniles" there "would be a pretty good argument that these records are categorically exempt" under chapter 13.50 RCW. RP 17. But because an adult was present, the prosecutor took the position that "the adult file ... cannot [be] categorically exempt[ed]" even though the records relating to the juveniles and adult are "identical files." RP 17–18. The Times' counsel similarly argued that the name affixed to the file, and not the file's content or nature, controls the exemption analysis:

And one of the four files pertains to an adult. So all of these arguments about the minors really sort of become moot. There's an identical file that involves an adult.

RP 15. The commissioner found that disclosure could lead to irreparable harm and granted a TRO. RP 24; CP 9–11.

E. The Trial Court Denies Preliminary Injunctive and Declaratory Relief; the Court of Appeals Affirms

The plaintiffs then filed an amended complaint seeking declaratory and injunctive relief, adding as defendants the Times and the Palo Alto Daily Post.² CP 92–95. They then moved for a preliminary injunction and declaratory judgment, arguing that the records are exempt under chapter 13.50 RCW and the privacy exemption for investigative records at RCW 42.56.240(1). CP 96, 103, 107–09. They asserted standing under the Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act ("UDJA") and requested that their rights under the PRA be declared. CP 111–14.

In opposing the juveniles' motion, the Times' counsel embraced a "four corners" argument, claiming "it's not a juvenile record if it's in the adult file" and that it was

² The Palo Alto Daily Post withdrew its PRA request from Clyde Hill, and the parties stipulated to dismissing it and Clyde Hill from the case. *See* CP 390–94. This dismissal left only the Times's request for records from King County in issue. *See* CP 390–94.

"irrelevant" whether identical documents were in the juveniles' files. RP 54. The trial court held the records were subject to disclosure and denied a preliminary injunction, even though it found the records pertaining to the juvenile Does were identical to the records pertaining to 18-year-old Doe 5. CP 370–76.

In an unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeals affirmed, holding the records were not exempt. App. 1–15. The Court of Appeals also affirmed the trial court's order permitting the Does to proceed in pseudonym, which the Times had crossappealed.

VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

- A. The Court of Appeals' Opinion that 18-Year-Old Doe 5's File—Containing Records Identical to Those Created in Investigating the Juvenile Does—Cannot Be Exempt Conflicts with Published Decisions and Presents an Issue of Substantial Public Interest, Warranting Review Under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).
 - 1. Precedent holds that chapter 13.50 RCW is an "other" statute.

Ample authority establishes that chapter 13.50 RCW, which governs juvenile records, "supplements the [PRA] and

provides the exclusive process for obtaining juvenile justice and care records." *Deer v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 122 Wn. App. 84, 93, 93 P.3d 195 (2004). It is an "other statute" mandatory exemption to the PRA. RCW 42.56.070(1); *Doe ex rel. Roe v. Wash. State Patrol*, 185 Wn.2d 363, 375–76, 374 P.3d 63 (2016) (citing *Wright v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 176 Wn. App. 585, 597, 309 P.3d 662 (2013)).

The exemption applies to all chapter 13.50 RCW "records," meaning "the official juvenile court file, the social file, and records of any other juvenile justice or care agency in

the case." RCW 13.50.010(1)(d). It is undisputed that Doe 2–4's juvenile records are not part of the official juvenile court file or social file. Instead, they constitute records of a "juvenile justice or care agency," a term defined to encompass a variety of agencies, including "[p]olice . . . prosecuting attorney, defense attorney . . . [and] schools," RCW 13.50.010(1)(b), and are therefore protected from disclosure.

³ As used in chapter 13.50 RCW, the term "case" references not only juvenile court proceedings, but dependency proceedings, child abuse and neglect investigations, truancy issues, and related proceedings and investigations, regardless of whether they eventually mature into a filed "case" before a tribunal—and regardless of whether an adult was involved (as they often are). The purpose of chapter 13.50 RCW is to protect juveniles because the release of such records may invade their privacy, exacerbate trauma, and interfere with the legislative goals of removing barriers to housing, education, and employment. *See* LAWS OF 2014, ch. 175 § 1 (statement of intent). Thus the term "case" should be interpreted to encompass all records of an investigation or proceeding having juveniles as the focus or target.

This Court has held that RCW 13.50.050 "carves out the official juvenile court file as the only file open to the public and indicates that all other records are confidential." A.G.S., 182 Wn.2d at 279. Thus, whether a record falls within the protections of chapter 13.50 RCW turns on whether it pertains to a juvenile suspect, offender, or otherwise has a juvenile at its center, such as in dependency or termination proceedings. The presence of an adult suspect does not change this analysis. For example, dependency and child welfare records retain their confidentiality despite often focusing on the alleged conduct of an adult (e.g., that of a parent or caretaker). See, e.g., Deer, 122 Wn. App. at 91. The Legislature has prioritized the protection of juveniles over scrutinizing how governmental agencies investigate the alleged improper or criminal conduct of adults.

2. The Court of Appeals' opinion conflicts with decisions establishing that the nature of records—not solely their location—determines whether an exemption applies.

It is undisputed that if Doe 5 had not been present, or if he had been 17 instead of 18 years old at the time, *all* of the

records at issue in this case would remain confidential under chapter 13.50 RCW. The parties differ only on whether the presence an adult at an incident involving juveniles transforms juvenile investigation records into "adult" records that must be produced under the PRA.⁴ The Court of Appeals' conclusion that it does erroneously elevates form over function and runs counter to its own and this Court's decisions that it is the nature of a record—not its location—that governs.

⁴ While the Court of Appeals referenced Doe 5's records as "nearly identical" to those of the juveniles, App. 2, the records themselves, which were designated as clerk's papers and provided *in camera* to that court, show there was a single investigation, and single investigative file, relating to three juveniles and one 18-year-old suspect. *Compare* CP 2726–30 (referring case to both the adult and juvenile prosecutors for a filing decision); 2726-3219 (single Clyde Hill investigation file into Does 2–5). The plaintiffs only to keep confidential only the records identical to those in their juvenile investigation files (i.e., excepting the 2-page case summary at CP 2724–25 and 1-page decline on the adult suspect at CP 3220). CP 202–03; RP 17–18 (KCPAO attorney stating that "because the file at issue – they're identical files, the adult file we cannot categorically exempt it").

In Lindeman v. Kelso School District No. 458, this Court held that a bus surveillance video did not fall under the "student file" exemption, reasoning that "[m]erely placing the videotape in a location designated as a student's file does not transform the videotape into a record maintained for students." 162 Wn.2d 196, 203, 172 P.3d 329 (2007). And in City of Tacoma v. Tacoma News, Inc., the Court of Appeals dismissed an argument that letters sent to the police department to support a parent accused of abusing a child should not qualify as law enforcement "investigatory records" exempt from disclosure because they "were not physically filed and retained as part of the police department's investigatory file." 65 Wn. App. 140, 144 & n.3, 827 P.2d 1094 (1992). The Court reasoned that "[t]he location in which the letters were physically filed or retained is one factor to look at, but is not by itself dispositive." Id.

Lindeman and City of Tacoma instruct that courts consider the nature or function of a record in assessing whether

it falls within an exemption. The legislative intent in creating the exemption is paramount. Here, the fact that the juveniles' investigative records were *also* placed in the file of an 18-year-old is not the controlling factor. The mere placement of juvenile records into an adult file does not transform the records into something other than what they are: documentation of an investigation that focused on sexual assault allegations against three juvenile boys, allegations that were ultimately found to be unsubstantiated. The Court of Appeals' decision is inconsistent with these authorities, meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

3. The Court of Appeals' opinion conflicts with decisions instructing that exemptions must be construed to effect, not frustrate, legislative intent.

The Court of Appeals' decision means that the juvenile

Does have no meaningful recourse to the privacy protections of chapter 13.50 RCW, and thus in effect they have *no*confidential records, despite having been the primary targets of an 8-month investigation that produced a file containing

hundreds upon hundreds of pages. It is these *identical* documents placed in Doe 5's file that the plaintiffs seek to keep confidential, as the Legislature intended. The Court of Appeals concluded that these records can be disclosed; thus in effect the plaintiffs who were investigated have *no* confidential juvenile records, despite having thick investigative files. This conclusion conflicts with precedents establishing that exemptions are construed to effect, not frustrate, the Legislature's intent.

These cases teach that while exemptions are "narrowly construe[d]," a court may not "ignore the plain language of [a] specific public disclosure exemption." *Bldg. Indus. Ass'n of Wash. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 123 Wn. App. 656, 662, 666, 98 P.3d 537 (2004). Where a "narrow reading of [an exemption] would ignore" the Legislature's intent, a court will rightly reject such a reading. *Nw. Gas Ass'n v. Wash. Utils. & Transp. Comm'n*, 141 Wn. App. 98, 119, 168 P.3d 443 (2007). Thus, this Court reversed a trial court's overly-narrow

interpretation of the "peer review" exemption to exclude reviews involving non-physicians, holding that such a narrow interpretation would not cover the peer review activities of many hospitals, "frustrating the legislature's intent." *Cornu-Labat v. Hosp. Dist. No. 2 Grant Cnty.*, 177 Wn.2d 221, 232–33, 298 P.3d 741 (2013). Contrary to these precedents, the Court of Appeals' ruling here frustrated the Legislature's intent for juvenile confidentiality, warranting discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

The Court of Appeals also erred in rejecting persuasive authority. In a case on all fours with this one, the Texas Court of Appeals concluded that a single law enforcement record pertaining to adult and juvenile suspects must be withheld in its entirety, even if the requestor seeks only the record in the adult's file. *See Loving v. City of Houston*, 282 S.W.3d 555, 559 (Tex. App. 2009).

The Court of Appeals misread *Loving* and the record below. *Loving* did *not* determine, as the Court of Appeals

wrote, that "two separate files should have been maintained" in that case. App. 7. Instead, Loving reasoned that even if a separate file should have existed for the adult, "the fact is" that the requestor in that case sought "one document"—the police incident report—which contained information relating to a juvenile suspect. Loving, 282 S.W.3d at 561. As such, it could not be disclosed, even though the incident report also related to an adult suspect and may have been copied in a separate adult file. *Id.* In other words, *even if* a separate file had been maintained for the adult suspect, the incident report could not be disclosed because it pertained to a juvenile suspect and was therefore a confidential record concerning a child. See id. Loving's reasoning applies fully to this case.

Here, the requestor named the juvenile Does in seeking the records, giving the Texas court's holding in *Loving* even greater persuasive force. CP 121, 205. There is no reason why the Texas legislature, which has also enacted a broad public records disclosure law, would be more protective of juveniles,

more aware of the unfair, race-based collateral consequences of the juvenile justice system, and more willing to dispense with such protections than Washington's legislature.⁵ To give meaning and effect to the juvenile records exemption, the records are properly regarded as exempt juvenile records that must be kept confidential.

In sum, the Court of Appeals' decision resulted in the exemption protecting none of the records relating to the juvenile Does, because the *very same* records in their files are

onfidentiality. For example, the Supreme Court of Nevada concluded that records "relat[ing] to the investigation of a juvenile-involved incident" were entirely exempt from disclosure, even when the requestor asked for the records relating to a state senator's (who was also a parent of one of the juvenile suspects) interactions with police at the scene. *See Republican Attorneys Gen. Ass'n v. Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Dep't*, 136 Nev. 28, 458 P.3d 328, 330–31, 335 (2020) ("Ford's depiction and any communications he makes are inextricably commingled with the confidential juvenile justice information."). The fact that the information also related to a public official did not divest the records of their protection as records relating to the investigation of juveniles.

subject to disclosure. This holding threatens juvenile privacy where common investigative files for adult suspects are created and maintained, contrary to those published decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals holding that the Legislature's intent must be effectuated, not frustrated, by judicial interpretations of exemptions.

4. Whether juveniles lose protection in their investigative records where their records are also placed in a file relating to an adult cosuspect is of substantial public interest, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4).

The Court of Appeals' decision imperils the Legislature's clear policy preventing disclosure of juvenile records to mitigate the harm of racial disparities, promote rehabilitation, and protect against lasting stigma. This Court has recognized that disclosing juvenile records can have "very real and objectively negative consequences," consequences that "are particularly unjustifiable in light of the fact that the mind of a juvenile or adolescent is measurably and materially different from the mind of an adult." *State v. S.J.C.*, 183 Wn.2d 408,

432, 433, 352 P.3d 749 (2015). And "open juvenile records implicate and exacerbate racial disparities" given the fact "that juveniles of color face disproportionately high rates of arrest and referral to juvenile court." *Id.* at 433 (citations omitted). In *S.J.C.*, this Court instructed courts to "give[] effect to" the Legislature's "careful policy judgments" in this arena, as "the legislature is in the unique and best position to publicly weigh the competing policy interests" with respect to such records. *Id.* at 422.6

The Legislature has determined confidentiality is the proper safeguard against the school-to-prison pipeline disparately impacting boys of color, including the Does here, who are mostly Black. CP 98. The Court of Appeals' contrary decision is inconsistent with this Court's decision in *S.J.C.* and presents an issue of substantial interest that should be determined by this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4).

⁶ While *S.J.C.* addressed juvenile court records, its rationale applies with equal force to other juvenile records.

B. The Court of Appeals' Decision that Redaction of Juvenile Records Is Appropriate Conflicts with this Court's Precedent, Warranting Review

The Court of Appeals' decision that redacting the juveniles' names suffices to protect their privacy interests, App. 7–8, is inconsistent with this Court's decision in *RAC*, which held that redaction is appropriate only if redaction "can transform the record into one that is not exempted." *RAC*, 177 Wn.2d at 437. Where an exemption applies to the entire record (as it does under chapter 13.50 RCW), as opposed to a type of information, redaction is not warranted. *See id.* The Court of Appeals' contrary decision warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

- C. The Failure to Grant a Preliminary Injunction Conflicts with this Court's Decisions and Presents Issues of Public Interest, Meriting Discretionary Review
 - 1. The extent to which the records implicate the privacy exemption for investigative records is an issue of substantial public interest.

Investigative and law enforcement records are exempt under RCW 42.56.240(1) to the extent needed to protect a

person's right to privacy. The records here contain descriptions of private sexual conduct involving minors, yet the Court of Appeals concluded redaction of the juvenile Does' names alone sufficed to protect privacy.

Under the PRA, the right to privacy is violated where disclosure "[w]ould be highly offensive to a reasonable person" and "not of legitimate concern to the public." RCW 42.56.050. This Court has recognized that disclosure of "intimate details of one's personal and private life"—such as the conduct at issue here—would be highly offensive. *Spokane Police Guild v. Wash. State Liquor Control Bd.*, 112 Wn.2d 30, 38, 769 P.2d 283 (1983).

Here, the Court of Appeals held that release of the records, with only the juveniles' names redacted, was required to meet the legitimate public concern of overseeing investigations. App. 9–10. But if scrutiny of every investigation is necessarily of legitimate concern to the public, the investigative records exemption could never apply—an

absurd conclusion that negates the Legislature's exemption. Cases holding that an interest in overseeing investigations is legitimate involve substantiated allegations or conduct of public officials in their line of duty. See Bellevue John Does 1–11 v. Bellevue Sch. Dist. #405, 164 Wn.2d 199, 215, 189 P.3d 139 (2008) ("[W]hen a complaint regarding misconduct during the course of public employment is substantiated or results in some sort of discipline, an employee does not have a right to privacy in the complaint."); Bainbridge Island Police Guild v. City of Puyallup, 172 Wn.2d 398, 404, 416, 259 P.3d 190 (2011) (public has legitimate interest in how police department responds to allegation against its own officer in the line of duty); Brouillet v. Cowles Pub. Co., 114 Wn.2d 788, 798, 791 P.2d 526 (1990) ("The public requires information about the extent of known sexual misconduct in the schools, its nature, and the way the school system responds in order to address the problem.").

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