FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/8/2021 3:18 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 100181-9

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals, Div. I, 81814-7-I

JOHN DOE 1, et al.,

Petitioners,

v.

KING COUNTY AND THE SEATTLE TIMES,

Respondents.

THE SEATTLE TIMES ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Katherine George, WSBA No. 36288 JOHNSTON GEORGE LLP 2101 Fourth Avenue, Suite 860 Seattle, WA 98121 Phone: 206 832-1820 kathy@johnstongeorge.com Attorney for The Seattle Times

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

III. ARGUMENT

A petition for review will be accepted only: (1) if the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court; (2) the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; (3) a significant question of constitutional law is involved; or (4) the petition

involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b). None of these conditions are met here.

A. The Opinion Is Based On The Nature Of The Records, Consistent With The Cases Cited By The Does.

The Does argue that the Court of Appeals opinion conflicts with decisions establishing that the "nature" of records, not their "location," determines whether an exemption applies. Petition pp. 14-17. But the opinion is not based on the location of John Doe 5's records. The Does point to no language supporting that premise. The Court of Appeals said John Doe 5's records are "adult records." Petition App. 8 (italics added). The Court of Appeals also noted that the file for John Doe 5, an adult, was separate from the file for juvenile suspects. Id. 7. This goes to the *nature* of the John Doe 5 records at issue – they are records of an adult criminal investigation. The adult nature, not the physical location, is what the opinion addressed. The fact that similar records existed for juveniles does not alter the adult nature of the

records which King County redacted for release. *Koenig v. City of Des Moines*, 158 Wn.2d 173, 183, 142 P.3d 162 (2006) (courts do not "look beyond the four corners of the records at issue" to determine if they are exempt).

There is no conflict with this Court's decision in *Lindeman* v. Kelso School Dist. No 458, 162 Wn.2d 196, 172 P.3d 329 (2007). That case concerned a single record (a school bus surveillance video), and whether it constituted "personal information in files maintained for students" for purposes of RCW 42.56.230(1). *Lindeman*, 162 Wn.2d at 203. This Court held the exemption must be construed narrowly to apply only when information is both "personal" and "maintained for students." Id. at 202. Noting that a surveillance video is recorded for security purposes and does not reveal whether a student was disciplined, the Court said: "The District cannot change the inherent character of the record by simply placing the videotape in the student's file or by using the videotape as an evidentiary

basis for disciplining the student." *Id.* at 203. In this case, the Court of Appeals opinion narrowly interpreted an exemption for juvenile records to exclude records of a different nature (adult records), just as *Lindeman* narrowly interpreted an exemption for student records to exclude security records.

Nor is there a conflict with *City of Tacoma v. Tacoma*News Inc., 65 Wn.App. 140, 827 P.2d 1094 (1992). The Does rely on a footnote stating that whether certain letters were placed in an investigative file was "not dispositive" in determining if they were investigative records. 65 Wn.App. at n.3. On that point (which the case did not turn on), the Court of Appeals looked to whether the letters were received and retained in connection with the child abuse investigation at issue. *Id.* Similarly here, in determining if the records at issue were juvenile records, the Court of Appeals looked to whether the records were received and retained in connection with the juvenile investigation. They were not – and instead were

connected with the adult investigation. Thus, there is no conflict with the cited footnote in *City of Tacoma* or with *Lindeman*.

B. The Opinion Fulfills, And Does Not Frustrate, Legislative Intent.

The Does also argue that the Court of Appeals opinion conflicts with a rule, stated in various decisions, that narrow construction must not ignore legislative intent. Petition pp. 17-22. But there is no conflict because the intent of RCW 13.50.050 is to protect juvenile records, not adult criminal records. The Does cannot point to any law allowing agencies to withhold *adult* investigation records if they mention juveniles or are similar to juvenile records. If the Legislature intended to limit public scrutiny of adult cases in that way, it would have said so.

RCW 13.50.010 defines "records" subject to RCW 13.50.050.³ The definition does *not* include records in adult

14

³ RCW 13.50.050 governs "records relating to the commission of juvenile offenses," and states "records other than the official juvenile court file are confidential." (italics added). RCW 13.50.010(1)(d) defines "records" as "the official juvenile court file, the social file, and records of any other juvenile justice or care agency in the case." (italics

cases. It is limited to records "in the case" of a "juvenile court file." RCW 13.50.010(1)(d). The Does want a broad interpretation encompassing police files sent to the adult criminal division for prosecution of an adult. That would conflict with *Cornu-Labat*, *Lindeman* and other decisions adhering to RCW 42.56.030, which requires narrow construction of exemptions to promote disclosure. *See*, *e.g.*, *Lyft*, 190 Wn.2d at 779 (the PRA is liberally construed and its exemptions are narrowly construed to promote the policy of public disclosure, and to keep Washington residents informed and in control over the instruments they have created).

C. An Unpublished Opinion Does Not Pose Any Risk of Inconsistent Decisions.

An important purpose of Supreme Court review is to clarify the law when appellate courts have interpreted it

added). The "social file" means "the juvenile court file containing the records and reports of the probation counselor." RCW 13.50.010(1)(e). Thus, "records" governed by RCW 13.50.050 are *the juvenile court's* legal and probation files and other records "*in the case*." RCW 13.50.010. Under the plain wording, "records...in the case" must be records *in a juvenile court case*.

differently, so as to prevent confusion and inconsistency. RAP 13.4(b). Here, in alleging conflicts with established law and threats to juvenile privacy, the Does neglect to acknowledge that the Court of Appeals opinion is unpublished and therefore has no impact beyond this case. GR 14.1 (unpublished opinions "have no precedential value and are not binding on any court"). If the Court of Appeals panel thought it was establishing a new rule, deciding a matter of general public importance, or contradicting a prior opinion, it would have published the opinion. RAP 12.3(d).

D. The Unpublished Court Of Appeals Opinion Does Not Warrant Review Based On Public Interest.

The Does contend that the Court of Appeals opinion presents issues of substantial interest because it "imperils" juvenile rehabilitation policies and treats "deeply private, noncriminal sexual conduct" as a legitimate public concern. Petition pp. 22, 27. First, as explained above, the opinion is not binding and therefore leaves all policies and rules intact.

Second, an alleged rape is a criminal justice issue, not a "deeply private" matter, and there is nothing new or alarming about recognizing the public's strong interest in overseeing agency investigations. See, e.g., Ameriquest Mortg. Co. v. Office of the Atty Gen. of Wash., 177 Wn.2d 467, 493, 300 P.3d 799 (2013) (finding "no authority or evidence to prove that the public lacks a legitimate interest in monitoring agency investigations"); Bainbridge Police Guild v. City of Puyallup, 172 Wn.2d 398, 416, 259 P.3d 190 (2011) ("Although lacking a legitimate interest in the name of a police officer who is the subject of an unsubstantiated allegation of sexual misconduct, the public does have a legitimate interest in how a police department responds to and investigates such an allegation"); Martin v. Riverside School Dist., 180 Wn.App. 28, 35, 329 P.3d 911 (2014).

The privacy right in RCW 42.56.240(1) is limited to the types of "private" facts comparable to those in the Restatement

(2nd) of Torts §652D. *Predisik v. Spokane Sch. Dist.*, 182 Wn.2d 896, 905 346 P.3d 737 (2015). Section 652D comment b says there is no invasion of privacy when "the defendant merely gives further publicity to information about the plaintiff that is already public." Here, the Does described widespread awareness of the assault allegations before KING 5 reported about the records. Moreover, §652D comment f says criminal suspects are "persons of public interest, concerning whom the public is entitled to be informed." Thus, suspected crimes are not private sexual matters and the Court of Appeals opinion did not break any new ground, contrary to the Does' arguments.

It is significant, too, that this Court previously viewed the issues presented as lacking broad or urgent public interest under RAP 4.2(a)(4). In April 2020, the Seattle Times requested direct review as a way of obtaining "prompt and ultimate determination" of the issues, emphasizing the

importance of a quick and final resolution. The Statement of Grounds for Direct Review said:

Without direct review, the case may take years to wind through the Court of Appeals and subsequent discretionary review by this Court. The injunction pending appeal (opposed by the Times) could stay in place the entire time. Direct review would minimize delays, consistent with the PRA policy to promote the fullest and fastest disclosure possible so that the people may maintain control of government. RCW 42.56.100; RCW 42.56.030.

Statement p. 11. As the Times predicted, the injunction pending appeal has stayed in place for the entire one and half years since "prompt" review was sought based on public interest. It is too late to treat the issues as broadly important, since the Court of Appeals resolved the issues based on preexisting law and determined that its opinion does not merit publication. In sum, the Does have not shown that RAP 13.4(b) criteria for review are met.

IV. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny review.